Railroad Influence on Branchville/Georgetown area

With the completion of the Danbury and Nor​walk Railroad in the spring of 1852, traffic on the old Turnpike (Old Mill Rd. to Umpawaug Rd., Long Ridge Rd. into Bethel/Danbury) grew smal​ler. The great freight wagons and stage coaches were soon retired as many who had traveled on horseback now traveled in railcars.

[The first official train from Norwalk to Dan​bury went through on March 1, 1852. George Tucker was the engineer and Harvey Smith the con​ductor.]

A one-way trip took 75 minutes using Hinkley Steam Engines named "The Danbury" and "The Norwalk." Trains would make two round trips daily for passenger service. The Line did well financially in the first few years, especially for passenger service. (Thompson)

Stage Coach operators once traveling the "old turnpike" now made daily trips from Branchville to Ridgefield. The demand for passenger service from Branchville to Ridgefield increased and in 1870 a line was completed from what was then known as "Ridgefield or Beers Station" up to the Town of Ridgefield. This "branch" off the Norwalk to Danbury line resulted in the name "Branchville" being applied to this area.

Passenger service on the branch line was available into town until 1925; freight service lasted until 1964. Most of the track bed, complete with gravel but missing its rails, is today the path of the Northeast Utilities high-voltage line and the town's "Rail-Trail," developed in the 1990s for walkers (no bicycles, alas, allowed). Some of the other sections along southern Florida Road have been sold to adjoining landowners. (Sanders)

While this area had been mostly farmland and a mill or two, the coming of the railroad sparked the development of a booming, albeit small-scale, industrial community. It included mills, stores, a hotel, a machinery factory, a noted mineral quarry, a post office, and a school. (Sanders)

By the 1870’s, The D&N was competing against several other companies including the New York, New Haven & Hartford and the Housatonic Railroad. The D&N sought an advantage in freight traffic by building a rail and ferry connection on Long Island Sound at Wilson's Point in South Norwalk in 1882. That extension of the transportation system allowed for an excellent intermodal connection between steamships and freight cars ready to move goods inland or ship raw materials like ice, quarried stone, and wire products to the ports of New York City.

The Wilson Point extension proved to be very profitable for the D&N and made the D&N Railroad an attractive business partner for other rail lines including the Housatonic Railroad and the New York, New Haven & Hartford. The extension proved to be even more profitable for the businesses located on the D&N rail line. The timing could not have been better for the Gilbert & Bennett Manufacturing Co., they had recently incorporated as a joint stock company to overcome their losses via a fire that destroyed their upper factories and now as a result of the RR expansion had direct access to worldwide ports, not to mention a spur line running directly into their warehouses. Branchville businesses profited as well…the discoveries at Fillow's Mine attracting businesses and geologists from far and wide to create a local mining industry that would continue into the 1940's. The Union Porcelain Works of Greenpoint, New York was the first to arrive in 1880 to mine for quartz and feldspar and as a result of the RR expansion had instant access to a booming freight line. Ridgefield Granite Works, that we'll discuss below, had been in business since the initial RR line was laid and now had access to larger markets as well.

And as we all know the success of businesses, creates jobs and draws in employees…employees have families, families have needs and therefore with the next wave came the businesses that "service" these needs. In almost "textbook" fashion the towns of Branchville and Georgetown flourished with the introduction and improvements of the D&N railroad.
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Ridgefield Station (Branchville) 1856 Close-up.

The Branchville Mining Industry

Abijiha N. Fillow's Branchville Mica Mine was by-far the "magnetic force" that attracted mining companies and geologists to the area. However, as the map above shows 20 years prior to the discoveries at Fillow's  mine, Philo Bates' Ridgefield Granite Works was operating out of the station area. In land records regarding properties on Mountain Rd., Philo W. Bates is listed in 1875 as owning land "East" of 32 Mountain Rd. and in 1890 as conveying a 20 acre parcel to Abijiha Fillow at 34 Mountain Rd. which would place his Ridgefield Granite Works in the areas of the Scott Preserve/Rock Lot we will visit on our tour. 

Little is known about the Ridgefield Granite Works aside from the 1856 Clark's Map reference and land records of properties owned by Philo W. Bates but it is presumed that it was a successful business given the span of time it operated in the area. Also appearing on the 1856 station map as a business is Walter Bates, mason and builder, which very likely involved a joint-venture with the Granite Works.
The "World Famous" Branchville Mica mine lies in the town of Redding on Mountain Road, 550 ft. N.E. of the Branchville railroad station. 

The first excavation in the Branchville Mine was made about 1876 by Abijiha N. Fillow, then owner of the property. Fillow was mining for mica. The mica recovered was then considered of inferior quality, and operations ceased sometime before the spring of 1878. At that time, George J. Brush and Edward S. Dana, both of Yale University, became so enthused about the new minerals at Branchville that they engaged Fillow to excavate the deposit with funds furnished by Yale. 

The results of these excavations gained the mine worldwide fame as (9) rare minerals (eight were discovered for the first time in the history of science) were mined at this unique location:

(A) Lithiophilite, maganese-iron phosphate, its name indicates its lithium content.

(B) Natrophilite, sodium-manganese phosphate, its name indicates a high sodium content.

(C) Dickinsonite, hydrated acid phosphate of sodium and manganese. Named in honor of Rev. Dickinson, formerly of Redding, CT.

(D) Fillowite, a hydrated acid phosphate of sodium, manganese, iron and calcium. Named in honor of A.N. Fillow of Branchville, CT

(E) Fairfieldite, a hydrated phosphate of calcium. Named in honor of Fairfield, CT

(F) Eosphorite, a hydrated basis phosphate of aluminum with iron and manganese. Named from the Greek in allusion to its pink color.

(G) Reddingite, hydrated phosphate of manganese and iron. Named in honor of Redding township.

(H) Tripoidite, basis phosphate of manganese and iron. Named in allusion to its resemblance to triplite in physical character and composition.

Information regarding these minerals appeared in scientific journals from 1878 to 1890 launching Brush and Dana's careers and one would hope- Fillow's real estate property value.

In 1880 the Union Porcelain Works of Greenpoint, New York, bought the property from Fillow and operated it for feldspar and quartz until 1891. The principal use for feldspar was in the ceramic industry.  Other uses included enameling for metal, glazes, and abrasives in soaps. At this time the mine was renamed "The Smith Mine". Fillow stayed on as supervisor of mining operations but resigned one year later. As a stipulation in the sale, all unused minerals were to be placed at the disposal of Brush and Dana.

Next the Bridgeport Wood Finishing Company (Silex Mills) of Bridgeport & later New Milford, Connecticut, operated for quartz and feldspar at the mine as well as other locations in the Branchville area from 1891 to 1917. These "other" areas included Mountain Rd., Pine Mountain Rd. and parts of the land we now refer to as the Scott Preserve/Rock Lot. Deeds indicate Jesse Fillow leased a 3-acre triangular piece to the BWFC at 32 Mountain Rd. in 1911, BWFC transferred it to Gininone Di Giavanni in 1914. BWFC also leased a 4-acre tract from John Barrett in 1911 at 34 Mountain Rd. for "the purpose of searching for quartz or silica; of conducting mining and quarrying operations and of recovering from here any quartz or silica…" Details also note "BWFC has the right to renew this agreement on the same terms and conditions for a further period of 10 years upon written notice..." the mining operation called for the removal of 100 gross tons of quartz or silica. More specifically "if 100 gross tons of quartz or silica are not mined or quarried, as now contemplated by said parties within any year during the continuance of this agreement…then these presents and everything contained therein shall cease and be forever null and void."

"Silex" was the trade name for quartz sand, a form of silica BWFC used extensively in making paste wood fillers; it is chemically inert, does not absorb moisture or shrink and can be stained to match any finish. Unfortunately for its workers it was also extremely damaging to the lungs. BWFC was in business from 1876 to 1917 when it was purchased by DuPont.

In addition to Bridgeport Wood Finishing Co. the properties in and around the mine were leased to several other individuals and companies in this time frame. For example, a June of 1897 lease between BWFC and William Haaker for 65 acres of land in Redding and Ridgefield, provided BWFC the right to mine for quartz and feldspar, and specifically stated that Haaker only had the right to quarry granite. In 1907 Haaker leased the same parcel to Traylor Manufacturing and Mining Co. of New Jersey for the purpose of mining quartz and feldspar for a period of 5 years. In 1914, Anna Haaker leased the same parcel to Monarch Mining Co, formerly Traylor Manufacturing and Mining Company. Traylor Manufacturing and Mining Company incorporated in 1907 with capital stock of $20,000 and one year later would increase that stock to $50,000 and change their name to Monarch Mining Company.

J. Frank Schairer located 31 different minerals in 1926. It was part of his research work on his book "The Minerals of Connecticut." He collected the data while he was at Yale. 

From September 1943 to November 1944, Fred and Joseph Burrone and Carlo Rusconi, all of North Branford, Connecticut, operated the mine for mica, and the Sandy Ridge Mica and Mining Company, Inc., 927 15th Street N. W., Washington, D. C., worked the mine in November and December 1944. Also in 1944, detailed studies of the geology were made as part of the strategic-minerals investigations of the United States Geological Survey.

Sheet and scrap were the two types of mica mined. Sheet mica was used primarily for insulating electrical equipment. Specifically it was used in spark plugs, lamp sockets, radio apparatus, fuse boxes, heating devices and telephones. Scrap mica was used for roofing, wallpaper, paints, for filler in rubber such as automobile tires, and lubricants.
The demand for sheet mica during World War II induced operators to work the long dormant mine in 1943 and 1944. 

After 1944 the mine was sporadically operated until 1954. 

The last attempt to reopen the mine was made in 1979 by geologist, Michael DeLuca but his request was turned down by the zoning commission.

About Granite

As noted above, in addition to Mica, Quartz and Feldspar, Granite was mined in the Branchville area for quite some time and evidence of this type of mining can easily be found on Mountain Rd. Pine Mountain Rd, and Peaceable St. today.

Granite is the name used for a variety of light-colored, coarse-grained igneous rocks. Orthoclase (potassium) feldspar is typically the most abundant mineral in granite and significant amounts of quartz and plagioclase feldspar are generally present as well. Minor minerals include muscovite mica, biotite mica, hornblende and others. 

The coarse grain size of granite indicates a slow rate of cooling that occurred below the earth's surface. The insulating effect of the surrounding rock caused the magma to crystallize very slowly. The slow cooling allowed the mineral grains adequate time to grow to a large size.

Because it crystallizes "at depth" Granite exposed at the surface indicates a location where deep erosion has taken place. 

Granite is a very strong, durable stone and is used in a variety of ways. Its attractive appearance makes it useful as an architectural stone. It is also widely used in monuments, grave markers, stair treads, counter tops, window sills, street curbing and other dimension stone uses.

Granite is also used in the form of crushed stone or aggregate. Granite aggregate is mainly used for road construction and maintenance, however there are many other uses which include concrete, landscaping stone and paving. The U.S. Geological Survey estimates that granite accounts for about 16% of the United States crushed stone production, behind limestone and dolomite.

What Created These Mining Scars?

Hand drilling was the method used by quarry miners to extract granite blocks from the landscape. 

Hand drilling helps remove rock three ways: (1) A rock may be split into chunks of manageable size by steel drilled into a natural seam; (2) If the steel in the seam does not split the rock by itself, the hole may be fitted with the wedge and feathers. The wedge is driven between the feathers with a hammer until the rock breaks; (3) Finally a hole may be used to prepare a rock for blasting. In general, the larger the rocks, the more likely you will use explosives to move them. Although hand drilling was slow work, it was a safe and simple way to chisel out granite blocks and/or prepare the rocks for blasting.

The driller drives the steel by methodical hammering and turning. When the hammer strikes the head of the steel, the bit is forced against the rock. After each blow of the hammer, the driller turns the steel slightly and strikes it again. With each blow the bit chips small amounts of rock that collect in the hole as "drilling dust." The driller removes the dust by adding water to the hole, which creates a mud that sticks to the sides of the steel. To clear the mud, the driller removes the steel and raps it against the rock. The procedure is continued until the hole is deep enough; longer steel is substituted as the hole lengthens.

The steel is manipulated with one hand while the other hand hammers (single jacking), or the steel is manipulated by two hands while another person hammers (double jacking). 

[image: image2.jpg]



[image: image3.jpg]



[image: image4.jpg]




Single Jacking Method
Double Jacking Method
Double Jacking Upward

The early history of our country contains many accounts of legendary 'hammer and steel' drillers who were experts at both single and double jacking. Single jacking involved an individual holding and turning the steel with one hand while hitting the steel with a small hammer held in the other hand.

Ambidexterity was very helpful for the single jack driller because he could work longer by shifting the hammer from one hand to the other to distribute the work. In double jacking one or two drillers hit a drilling steel with large sledge hammers while a holder turned the steel slightly after each blow. As the hole deepened, the holder substituted longer steels in a way that did not interrupt the driller's disciplined rhythm.

The Tools

Straight Pattern Bit These have a single flared, slightly raised, cutting edge. They are old style bits, now days a Star Pattern Bit would be used.
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Single jack These are also called 'club' or hand drilling hammers. Handles are commonly 10 inches long, and heads weigh either 3 or 4 pounds
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Double jack These large driving sledges have 36-inch handles and 6- or 8-pound heads.
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Wedge This is a heat-treated steel rod that is generally the same diameter as the drilling steel.

Blade Wedges have a pointed, flattened blade opposite a head that receives the blow of the hammer.

Feathers These are half round pieces of forged steel with a curved top, blunt bottom, and a flat inside edge running their entire length.
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History of these methods

The building blocks for the Egyptian pyramids and obelisks were obtained by using hammers and wooden wedges to extract large sections of stone in carefully measured shapes and sizes. The wedges had a hole in the middle for holding and carrying.

Miners from the time of the Roman Empire though the Middle Ages often applied a "fire setting" system to break rock. A rock face was exposed to intense heat followed by a quick dousing with water. The sudden cooling caused the rock to crack and split along natural seams. Sometimes a suspended wooden ram with a hard stone ball on its front was used to open a hole in the center of a rock face, and the face was chipped into it radially.

Gun powder was first used to break rock during the Middle Ages. Gunpowder appears to have been introduced for the purpose of mining by a Saxon named Hemming Hutman in 1683. Hutman used a drill forged of wrought iron with an inset bit of tempered steel to hammer holes in the rock at critical points. The charges placed in the holes broke the rock more effectively than those laid on or near it.

Miners would hand-bore holes using drills and hammers, usually up to two feet deep and about one inch across. These would then be charged with powder, and a long thin metal “pricker” would be passed down the hole, communicating with the main charge. The hole would then be rammed with clay, the pricker would be pulled out, and lengths of straw or reed full of fine powder would be put down the resulting narrow hole to act as fuse. Touch paper, which is paper soaked in saltpetre, would be fixed to the end of the straw, then the miner would light it and run. It was a much more effective way of mining than the old method, which was discontinued.

This rather dangerous method continued until about 1870, when safety fuse was introduced. This consisted of a tarred rope with a core of powdered gunpowder. It burned at a fixed rate, which would give the miner a good chance of getting away. Prior to that, it was not unusual for a charge to explode prematurely, blowing the miner’s eye out, or worse.

Since every mechanical advantage gained by drillers was considered desirable, hand drilling was generally abandoned as soon as pneumatic drills were developed. Rock drills were introduced about 1890, reducing the labor involved considerably. However, rock drills also caused a lot of dust which the miner would inhale. Many died from silicosis, and the early drills were commonly referred to as "widow makers". It was thought that the effects of dust could be minimized by growing beards to trap it. That explains why many of the old miners had such magnificent specimens on their chins. This problem was not overcome until drills which used a jet of water to keep the holes wet were introduced. Unfortunately for the gunpowder industry, dynamite and similar explosives proved to be a much more effective at breaking rock. They exploded with great violence, giving a much more powerful shockwave than gunpowder does. A stick of dynamite on a railway line would probably cut the metal, while gunpowder would do little damage. However, it was the relative gentleness of a gunpowder blast which caused it to remain in use where intact blocks of rock were desired, i.e. the quarrying industry.

Still standard hand drilling methods, such as single and double jacking were retained by prospectors for small budget rock work into the 20th century. This appears to be the case in the rock quarries of Branchville, Redding and Ridgefield, as the rocks remaining show scars caused by hammer and bit, with no evidence of explosive materials. The methods of drilling and breaking rock with hand tools is discussed in Forest Service manuals up to 1923, and in prospecting handbooks as recently as 1943 which gives some validation to this theory.

[image: image9.jpg]



An example of what quarries in this area would 

have looked like during working hours.

